## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-WC-00231

RICHARD W. LADNER, II

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

GRAND BEAR GOLF COURSE/GRAND CASINO OF MISSISSIPPI and GREAT AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY

**APPELLEES** 

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANT RICHARD W. LADNER, II (Claimant)

(Oral Argument Requested)

JAMES K. WETZEL, ESQUIRE (MS Bar No JAMES K. WETZEL, P.A. 1701 24th Avenue Post Office Box I Gulfport, MS 39502 (228) 864-6400 (ofc); (228) 863-1793 (fax) ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-WC-00231

RICHARD W. LADNER, II

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS**

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN AFFIRMING THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION IN FINDING THAT THE CLAIMANT'S VEHICULAR COLLISION OF JANUARY 14, 2001, WHILE DRIVING TO WORK WAS NOT AN INJURY WHILE IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HIS EMPLOYMENT; AND FURTHER HOLDING THAT THE VEHICULAR COLLISION FELL WITHIN THE "GOING AND COMING RULE", THEREFORE, NOT A "COMPENSABLE ACCIDENT."

### **INTRODUCTION**

This is an appeal by Richard W. Ladner, II, who filed a workers' compensation claim against his employer, Grand Casino of Mississippi, d/b/a as Grand Bear Golf Course, and its workers' compensation carrier. For convenience hereinafter in this brief, the Appellant, Richard Ladner, will be referred to as Mr. Ladner, and the Appellee, Grand Casino of MS, will be referred to as Employer.

Mr. Ladner is appealing the decision of the Circuit Court of Harrison County, First Judicial District, dated January 19, 2007. (R.E.8). Said decision affirmed the order of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission dated February 8, 2006. (R.E.7). Said order affirmed the decision of the administrative law judge dated June 9, 2005. (R.E.6). Mr. Ladner contends errors of law and fact were made by the Circuit Court judge affirming the decision of the Full Commission and its fact finder, the administrative law judge.

The most significant of said errors by the Circuit Court judge was in affirming the Full Workers' Compensation Commission holding that Mr. Ladner's vehicular collision on January 14, 2001, while driving to work was not an injury while in the course and scope of his employment; that the vehicular accident in which he was involved fell within the "going and coming rule"; therefore, not compensable. The Workers' Compensation Commission also erred as a matter of law in failing to apply certain statutory principles in its decision making process: (1) the Workers' Compensation law should be construed liberally in favor of the claimant in order to carry out the purpose of this remedial legislation; and (2) that doubtful questions should be resolved in favor of the claimant.

The Claimant would submit to this Honorable Court that the Workers' Compensation Commission as well as the administrative law judge failed to apply these legal standards on the issue of whether or not this vehicular collision was "incident to his employment" which gives rise to a compensable injury under the Workers' Compensation laws.

The Claimant would submit to this Honorable Court that after the record is reviewed in its entirety, this Court will be left with the clear and firm conviction that a mistake has been made by the Circuit Court and the Full Workers' Compensation Commission in its application of the Act to the findings of fact made by the administrative law judge as it relates to compensability.

### FACTS OF THE CASE

At the time this matter was heard before the administrative law judge, Mr. Ladner was 27 years old and had a high school education. Prior to Mr. Ladner's accident on January 14, 2001, he had been working for the Employer as an assistant mechanic at the Grand Bear Golf Course and Country Club. He worked six days a week at the golf course approximately 8 to 12 hours a day. All of his work was performed at the golf course and country club which was located at the end of a rural county road that runs southeasterly from Highway 49 to the Grand Bear Golf Course known as Grand Way Blvd. The entrance to the golf course and country club is approximately six miles from Highway 49. Grand Way Blvd. is the only road leading to the Grand Bear Golf Course. The only physical structure on Grand Way Blvd. is the Grand Bear Golf Course and Country Club at the end of this roadway. There were no other homes or other physical structures on this six mile road.

On January 14, 2001, there were about 13 to 15 employees in the maintenance department at the golf course. Approximately 8 or 10 of these individuals worked on the weekend, including Mr. Ladner. There were other workers at the club house and pro shop and they usually arrived at 8:00 o'clock a.m. Mr. Ladner assisted the main mechanic in the maintenance of all vehicles, golf carts, and lawnmowers.

Grand Way Blvd., prior to being paved as a two-lane road, was paid for by the Grand Bear Golf Course, according to the testimony of Robert Kneasal, the Harrison County engineer. When Grand Way Blvd. was taken over by Harrison County, it was a dirt road and designated as Road 424. This particular road was an old logging trail and it was never designed originally from the beginning as a formal road or roadway. Robert Kneasal testified that when it was taken over by the County, they went out and surveyed and compiled a set of drawings to show the alignment of the six-mile

road and improvements the County wished to have performed. The Grand Casino entered into a public/private agreement in 1999 or 2000 wherein Grand Casino would pay for the expenses of the improvements, but the County would oversee the layout of the road. The National Forestry Commission was the owner of the road and was very adamant about not allowing the County to get off the path of the road. (T.145-146).

Mr. Kneasal testified there were several areas of curves that had "big dog legs" the County wanted to take out in order to shorten up the road in some places and the Forestry Commission would not allow the County to do same. (T. 147). Mr. Kneasal testified the Forestry Commission made the County stick to the existing right of way of the road as it was laid out. He did testify that in some places the County smoothed out some curves but basically stayed with the layout of the road as it existed when a dirt road. (T.147). Kneasal advised that when the County designed a road from scratch, it would determine what speed limits it wanted on the road and then it would design the curves and road based upon the speed to be designated for that particular roadway. He advised that in this particular case, the Grand Bay Blvd., the curves were already in place and the County just basically smoothed out some of the curves and made sure it had adequate room for pavement and some ditching for drainage along the right of way. (T.147-148).

Mr. Kneasal testified that he was in charge of the survey crew and that he had the survey crew go out and survey the road for right of way because the National Forestry Commission required a deed to be drawn up with the legal description and they would in turn grant an easement for the use of the road to the County. (T.148). Mr. Kneasal advised they prepared construction drawings for the road which was planned and profile sheets that showed the horizontal alignment and the vertical alignment of the road and determined if any culverts were required in the lowest spots and basically

laid it out on paper so the survey crew could continue laying it out in the field for construction workers. (T.148). He advised that the primary purpose for this particular roadway being improved was because it was the only access road to the golf course and country club and it was being paid for by Grand Casino for their use. The hunters and people using the national forest property would be the only other persons that would be using this road from time to time. Mr. Kneasal testified Grand Casino hired a paving contactor and that the County only oversaw the alignment and the surveying of the road in question. (T.149).

Mr. Kneasal also testified that the federal government, the Department of Interior and National Forest Service, limited the County from clearing more of the right of way and using more of the road for shoulders. They would not allow for wider shoulders. He further testified Grand Bay Blvd. is still owned by the federal government and the County only has an easement for the use of the road. (T.150). He further testified that the land on the north side and south side of the road which basically runs east and west was all owned by the National Forestry Service up to the gate where the Grand Casino property begins. Kneseal further testified that the vehicle accident involving Mr. Ladner that occurred on January 14, 2001, was on land that was owned by the federal government or right of way, and that the only signs along this area of the road were the ones that other employees of the County testified to with a reference to regulatory speed limit signs. (T.151).

On cross-examination of Mr. Kneasal by claimant's attorney, Mr. Kneasal testified that Grand Casino bought the piece of property at the end of Grand Bay Blvd. because it wanted to develop a golf course as an amenity to its casino; that the only ingress and egress to the golf course property was the old logging and hunting trail known as Road No. 424, which was basically a fire lane (T.155). It was also considered a logging road that was owned and maintained by the National

Forestry Service. Mr. Kneasal also testified Grand Casino paid for all the improvements to Grand Bay Blvd. A public/private agreement was entered into with Harrison County and it did not cost the County a nickel in terms of improvement costs. (T.156).

Mr. Kneasal also testified the only ingress and egress to this golf course was by way of this logging road and that the National Forestry Service would not allow them to vary from the existing logging trail in terms of the layout of the road. He further testified that if he were going to design a road from Highway 49 to the Grand Casino property, he would not have designed this road in the fashion in which it was laid out. He testified that because of all the curves and natural obstacles in that road it would not be good and that you would want to design it for a higher speed which you couldn't do with the curves that were in it. This was the reason they had a maximum speed limit of 25 mph along the 6.2 mile stretch. They would normally design a road for travel of 40-50 mph. Further, in designing the shoulders for the road, they would normally have 5-8 foot shoulders and then ditches. There would be clearing beyond the 5-8 foot right of way so if people ran off the road, they would not hit trees that were adjacent to the road. (T.157-158).

Mr. Ladner testified that he used his personal truck to drive to work, that he was not paid for mileage to and from work and that he lived about 30 minutes from the golf course. Mr. Ladner testified he normally took Wortham Road, which is on the west side of Highway 49, crossed Highway 49 over to Grand Way Blvd. runs southeasterly from Highway 49 to the golf course. The entrance to the golf course and country club is approximately 6.2 miles from Highway 49 and Grand Bay Blvd. is the only road leading into or out of the Grand Bear Golf Course. (T.76).

On Sunday morning, January 14, 2001, Mr. Ladner testified he left for work in his red Chevrolet pick-up truck, planning to report to work at the golf course promptly at 6:30 a.m. He

testified he crossed Highway 49, entered Grand Way Blvd. going southeasterly to the golf course, and it was about 6:15 a.m. and listening to the radio in his truck. According to Mr. Ladner, as he approached one of the major curves on this roadway, he saw an oncoming vehicle with its lights on through a clear cut in the trees, and he dimmed his lights. (T.72). He then advised that he lost control of his vehicle and ran into a tree on the south side of the roadway. At the time of the accident, Mr. Ladner did not see any other Grand Bear employees on the Grand Way Blvd. He testified he only saw the vehicle that was coming from the other direction away from the golf course and assumed it was a deer hunter. (T.81). Mr. Ladner testified that from the time deer season began in November, the Grand Bear employees and golfers had to look out for deer hunters because the hunters hunted the road every day, starting about 6:30 a.m. He said they always started near the golf course where there was a good deer crossing. According to Mr. Ladner, he had just gotten to the deer stand area before his wreck when he saw the headlights through the clear cut in the trees and he dimmed his lights because he knew a car was coming. The car was right there with its lights on bright and Mr. Ladner testified he missed the curve which he could not see because of the lights on the other car and he hit a tree and his vehicle was totaled. (T.86-87).

Among the many injuries suffered in the wreck, Mr. Ladner's primary injury was a broken neck at the C6-7 level which left him as a "quadriplegic" with some limited use of his upper extremities that he described as "his right hand doesn't work at all and his left hand has about as much strength as a baby would have." (T.73). He further testified he could not feel from his chest down. Mr. Ladner testified the collision, based upon his best estimate, was approximately 1.3 to 2 miles from the entrance of the Grand Casino property and the only medication he had taken that day prior to the accident was his Dalprax which is for depression. (T.78-79).

A Mississippi Uniform Accident report was prepared by Harrison County Sheriff Deputy Charles Morrison which indicated Ladner collided with a tree at about 6:06 a.m. on Sunday, January 14, 2001. (R.E.9). The deputy arrived at the scene at 6:12 a.m. He reported that Mr. Ladner stated he was eastbound on Grand Bear when he saw an oncoming vehicle. He stated the vehicle lights blinded him and he ran off the road striking a pine tree. Witness Barnett stated he was westbound on Grand Bear doing about 5 mph when he saw a vehicle come out of nowhere and strike the tree. Deputy Morrison testified he arrived at the scene at 6:12 a.m. and found Mr. Ladner's vehicle on the south side of the road where it struck a large pine tree. Deputy Morrison testified he did not smell alcohol on Mr. Ladner and the emergency technician told Deputy Morrison that he had seen no signs of alcohol. Deputy Morrison described the road as "extremely curvy". He also said the road was relatively new and paved with asphalt and that there was a double yellow line down the middle of the road. Deputy Morrison testified that the accident took place in the 25 mph zone. (R.E.11).

Louis Rash, a certified civil engineer from Biloxi, Mississippi, testified for the claimant as an expert in civil engineering and road design. Mr. Rash received his B.S. and M.S. in civil engineering from the University of Mississippi and had been a practicing civil engineer since 1968. In addition to other past work, he was employed by the City of Biloxi as a city engineer for 10 years. In 1993, he went into private practice and his company, Louis D. Rash & Associates, provided expert consulting work in civil engineering and road design providing their expertise to municipal as well as county entities for public work projects and shopping center development. Mr. Rash further testified he had been a licensed professional engineer in the state of Mississippi since 1968 and also held licenses in

the past in the state of Louisiana. Mr. Rash was accepted as an expert in the field of civil engineering with an expertise in road design and engineering. (T.21-22).

Mr. Rash testified he was engaged by Mr. Ladner, claimant, through his attorney, James K. Wetzel, to undertake an evaluation as to the safety, design and hazards involved with the use of the road currently known as the Grand Way Blvd. His evaluation took place subsequent to Mr. Ladner's accident. (R.E.10). Mr. Rash testified in addition to driving the road, he had a field crew do a global positioning system alignment of the road to verify the road was the one that showed up on the County maps and the geological survey maps that he used. (T.23-24). Mr. Rash also testified that in all of his contacts with the engineering department for Harrison County, he was told by the employees in question that the only specifications they had for county roads within Harrison County were "subdivision regulation requirements" for the design and construction of county roads. (T.24). He further testified there was no formal "county road design ordinance" and was told by the engineering department that the only one they had in use was a county subdivision regulation which Mr. Rash obtained a copy (T.25). Mr. Rash further reviewed all the documents from Bobby Kneasal's office, who was the county engineer, and he reviewed the plan and documents entered into between the Harrison County Board of Supervisors and the Grand Casino.

Mr. Rash testified that the Grand Bear Road, also know as Grand Way Blvd., as far as the County was concerned, generally goes in an easterly direction from Highway 49, then in a southeasterly direction 6.2 miles to the gate of the Grand Bear Course. Mr. Rash testified that the shoulders on each side of the roadway are only 2-3 foot; and they are not very distinct for slopes or back slopes along this area. In fact, some of the surface drainage ditches were almost completely vertical. (T.29-30). Mr. Rash testified the significance of this is that it is a "confining thing" and

there is no safe way to get off the road if you have to get off the road. He further testified this two-lane road was the same all the way from the exit off Highway 49 to the entrance at the Grand Bear property. He testified that once you get to the Grand Bear property, the side slopes are then designed properly from 3 to 1 and maybe 4 to 1 slopes away from the road where the ditches are involved. In reference to the trees in this particular 6.2 miles of roadway, Mr. Rash testified in his review of it as well, the trees were almost on top of the road and then when you get to the entrance way of the casino property it looks like there is a total change where you have approximately 20 feet of cleared area off the leading edge of the road. (T.30-31).

Mr. Rash testified that he personally accompanied Officer Charles Morrison with the Harrison County Sheriff's Department to physically locate the tree impacted by Mr. Ladner when he left the road. (T.28;31). He further testified there was no other ingress or egress to the Grand property other than this particular 6.2 mile stretch of road. From a civil engineering standpoint, Mr. Rash testified he was of the opinion this was a hazardous road based upon the curvature of the road, the length of the curves and the radius of the curves and that all speed limits which were set along this whole 6.2 mile length at 25 mph was based strictly upon the hazardous conditions of the road. Mr. Rash further testified that the site distance was negligible primarily because the vegetation is right up against the edge of the road or within five feet of the edge of the road and there are very sharp turns at numerous locations along the 6.2 miles. (T.31-21). In fact, there are some places the speed limit is 15 mph and the turns are very dangerous because there is no visibility of what you are going to see when you make the turn. In reference to the specific area where the collision occurred, Mr. Rash testified the curve was actually a little bit more of a degree of curvature in that particular point and that it was slightly going uphill as well. There was a slight incline as you go around the

corner and the vegetation blocked your view. Mr. Rash pointed out the tree that was actually struck and demarcated it with an orange ribbon in photos introduced into evidence. He testified that where Mr. Ladner went off the road, there was no back slope whatsoever on the ditch itself and that it was his opinion the subject accident which occurred on January 14, 2001, by Mr. Ladner on the Grand Bear Golf Course road was caused by special hazards and dangers which are inherent in the conditions along the route to the golf course. (T.35-36). Mr. Rash testified his opinions were based primarily on the closeness of the vegetation to the road and the fact there are not any shoulders to the road necessarily, and that there is a 6-8 inch drop from the edge of the pavement to the so-called shoulder and then the embankment or back slope of the ditch is essentially vertical and is that way along the whole section through the 6.2 miles. (T.36). Mr. Rash also testified that for all practical purposes this road is a part of the employer's premises in that it is the only route that you can get to the premises and there was no other route to travel to get to the Grand Bear Golf Course. Mr. Rash also testified that Mr. Ladner, in his opinion, was subjected to a degree of exposure greater than the general public who generally used the road and that Richard Ladner was in a different position because he had to go to work to and from each day, seven days a week, where these special hazards existed. Mr. Rash testified that in his opinion the site distance with curves that are blocked with trees and other roadside vegetation creates a very hazardous condition along the roadway and the road bed itself in his opinion, did not meet the generally accepted minimum criteria for site distance for curves and conditions of curvature for the posted speed limit on that road. (T.37-38).

Mr. Rash further testified that Mr. Ladner was exposed on a daily basis to significant hazards each day associated with this particular road that he had to travel to and from his work. (T.40). He further testified that looking at the road way or undeveloped road as it existed prior to the paving of

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