IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-WC-00231

RICHARD W. LAD	CHARD W. LADNER, II (CLAIMANT)		
VERSUS			
AND GREAT AME	OF MISSISSIPPI (EMPLOYER) RICAN INSURANCE W YORK (CARRIER)	APPELLEES	
APPEAL FROM	THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNT	Y, MISSISSIPPI	
	ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED		

RONALD T. RUSSELL, ESQUIRE Mississippi Bar No.

Bryant, Dukes & Blakeslee, P.L.L.C.
Post Office Box 10
Gulfport, Mississippi 39502-0010
(228) 863-6101
FAX: (228) 868-9077

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-WC-00231

RICHARD W. LADNER, II (CLAIMANT)

APPELLANT

VERSUS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Whether the Circuit Court committed error by finding that the ruling of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission is supported by substantial evidence and should be affirmed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Course Of Proceedings And Disposition In The Tribunal Below

This case involves a claim for medical and disability benefits for injuries that the Claimant, Richard Ladner, sustained as a result of a motor vehicular accident on January 14, 2001. The Claimant was an employee of Grand Casino Biloxi assigned to the Grand Bear Golf Course and Country Club which was owned by Grand Casino. At the time of the accident, the Claimant was not performing any duties associated with his employment as he had not yet arrived at his place of employment. He was on the way to work and his unfortunate accident happened approximately 1.3 to 2 miles from the entrance to the Employer's facilities.

Accordingly, the primary issues herein are whether or not the subject accident arose out of and in the course and scope of his employment with Grand Casino, and the application of the "going and coming rule". On appeal, the Circuit Court of Harrison County determined that the Decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission is supported by substantial evidence and the Circuit Court Judge affirmed the decision of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission.

As the Claimant was neither at his place of employment nor performing duties associated with his employment at the time of the subject accident, the argument thus arises that the Claimant has not met his burden of proving that his accident arose out of and in the course and scope of his employment as required by law. His burden therefore was to prove that the facts warrant a finding that an exception exists to the general rule that accidents that occur while going and coming from work are not compensable. Based upon the documentary and photographic evidence as well as the testimony of numerous expert witnesses the Administrative Judge concluded that the Claimant's injury was not the result of any special hazard any more

exceptional than any other winding rural county road through a forest upon which a recommended 25 mile per hour speed limit exists. (P.V.65-86)¹. On this basis, the Administrative Judge denied the claim and it was appealed to the Full Commission which affirmed the ruling of the Administrative Judge. (P.V. 91) On further appeal the Circuit Court of Harrison County in a thorough and well reasoned decision concluded that the decision of the Full Commission is supported by substantial evidence and thus should be affirmed. See Appellees Record Excerpts, Exhibit No. 1, pages 1-10.

The matter is now before this Court on the issue of whether or not the Decision of the Circuit Court affirming the findings of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission contains reversible error.

(ii) Relevant Facts And Testimony

The Claimant herein at the time of the accident was a 26 year old male who was employed by Grand Casino Biloxi at their Grand Bear Golf Course and Country Club which is located in Harrison County off of Highway 49 outside the city limits of Gulfport, Mississippi. The entrance to the Grand Bear Golf Course and Country Club is located at the end of a county road known as Grand Way Boulevard, approximately six miles east of Highway 49.

The Claimant's duties at Grand Bear Golf Course and Country Club required him to perform maintenance on lawnmowers and to keep the greens mowed. All of his work was done on premises.

References to hearing transcript are designated as "TR" followed by the page number or numbers. References to exhibits are identified as "EX" followed by the page number or the date of the report. References to the pleading volume are identified as "P.V." followed by the page number.

Grand Way Boulevard is a county road, maintained by the County, that runs east and west for approximately six miles from the eastern boundary of Highway 49 to the entrance of the Grand Bear Golf Course and Country Club. Grand Way Boulevard was originally a dirt road known as Forest Road No. 424. It is part of the DeSoto National Forest, and as such, then and now, the road is utilized by the public in general to access public and private lands for hunting, fishing, camping, hiking and other uses that the National Forest affords the public. All of the land on the north and south side of Grand Way Boulevard is owned by the National Forest from the eastern boundary of Highway 49 all the way to the entrance of the Grand Bear Golf Course and Country Club. (TR.147, 149, 150, 151, 152)

In 1999 Robert J. Knesal, P. E., as County Engineer, obtained the easement for the subject road from the U. S. Forestry Service. He explained that private individuals and companies cannot obtain such easements and the Forestry Service can only grant an easement to state and county governments. He also testified that the road is a designated county road for which the County has provided all maintenance since the road was paved in 1999. He stated that it was of benefit to the County to take over the road as the road provides access for residents of Harrison County and the public in general to all the recreational facilities of the DeSoto National Forest and also the Grand Bear Golf Course and Country Club. As a county road, the County is responsible for posting all the safety signage and for determining and posting the appropriate safe legal speed limits. The Grand has no authority to post any signage anywhere on this road except on the very end of the road which is the on premises entrance to the Grand Bear property.

Furthermore, he stated that the Grand Casino and the Grand Bear Golf Course and Country Club have no right to restrict usage of this road by anyone as the road and the land on both sides of this road is the property of the U. S. Government. (TR. 149-152.)

Mr. Knesal testified that the subject road is like most of the roads throughout the County. They start out as trails or dirt roads and then evolve into modern paved roads. He stated that ideally you would want to design all of the county roads to be straight 50 mile an hour highways, but usually land access or lack thereof prevent this from occurring. Consequently, what the County tries to do in such circumstances, and in the present situation, is make the county road as safe as possible with lower speed limits. In this particular situation, the County had no say so in the specific layout of the road as the federal government dictated the path to be utilized. As they were unable to make it a straight highway, they then sought to make the road as safe as possible by using the proper equipment to determine the safe driving speeds and legal speed limit. They also utilized other methods such as center line striping and striping of the road edges. In this particular case they took the extra precaution of striping down the entire length of both edges of the road whereas most county roads would only have striping in the center of the road. (TR. 98, 132, 137, 148, 157, 158, 160-163.)

A stipulation by and between the U. S. Forestry Service and the Board of Supervisors of Harrison County was entered into evidence as Exhibit No. 12. This agreement stipulates that the County and the U. S. Forestry Service desired to cooperate in the development and construction of a highway that would protect adequately and afford adequate utilization of the land of the United States traversed by the highway for the purposes for which the lands are being administered which is access for all who desire to utilize the National Forest for all the usual recreational activities. The stipulation also specifies that the County is to design, construct and maintain this road to meet the actual load and gross vehicle weight limits of Mississippi state highways designed for 80,000 pound gross weight. (EX. 12)

(a) The General Rule

The Claimant Appellant relies solely on the testimony of Louis Rash, a civil engineer, in his effort to circumvent the general rule that accidents occurring off premises while coming to and going from work are not compensable. An Affidavit bearing the signature of Mr. Rash was introduced into evidence by Claimant's attorney as Exhibit No. 5. This document contains numerous legal conclusions and opinions which are clearly beyond the expertise of this particular witness. In fact, in a deposition that was admitted into evidence as Exhibit No. 10, Mr. Rash admitted that he has no legal training or experience and is not qualified to render legal opinions. Furthermore, he admitted in the deposition and at trial that the affidavit and the legal conclusions contained therein were not drafted by him. In fact, he stated that he does not even talk like the language that is contained in the affidavit. The affidavit was prepared by Claimant's counsel and presented to him for his signature and adoption. (EX. 10, pages 24-25) (TR. 48)

Procedural Rule 9 of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission provides that affidavits shall not contain opinions or other matters composed by attorneys for the signature of the physicians (experts). This Rule states it is intended for affidavits to pertain to narrative notes and reports composed and generated by the expert in the ordinary course of their practice. As this particular affidavit is not in compliance with Procedural Rule 9 and based upon Mr. Rash's admissions at trial and in his deposition, the Administrative Judge and the Commission accorded no weight to this document. (P.V. 65-86)

(b) Exceptions To The Rule

Mississippi case law and case law from other jurisdictions suggest that there are certain recognized exceptions to the general rule that accidents that occur off premises while traveling to or from one's place of employment are not compensable. These recognized exceptions to the general rule involve accidents on the way between home and work that are caused by some "extra

hazard" to which the general public is not exposed or to some "special hazard" that is peculiar to the particular route being traveled. The "special hazard" exception appears when an injury results from some abnormally defective or dangerous condition along the designated route such as a protruding manhole cover, an abnormally heavy traffic count, dangerous railroad crossings or recognized dangerous intersections. The accident in question must be caused by the specific hazard and not some general hazard that would apply to all routes of motor vehicle travel. (See. Dunn, Mississippi Worker's Compensation, 3d Edition, 1990 Supplement § 175.1.)

Mr. Rash, in his affidavit and also in his deposition and trial testimony, suggested that the Grand Way Road had various curves and vegetation near the roadbed that in his opinion caused hazardous situations. On cross examination he admitted that even if this were true, this would be a general hazard, not a special or specific hazard that was peculiar to the site of the accident and that would have been the cause of the accident. (TR. 65)

Mr. Rash suggested that while the roadbed itself is in reasonably good, physical condition, it, in his opinion, did not meet the general accepted minimum criteria for site distance for curves and conditions of curvature for the posted speed limit which is in effect on this road. He based this erroneous conclusion on Harrison County subdivision regulations which require new roads to be constructed with wider traffic lanes and wider cleared shoulders.

On cross examination Mr. Rash was forced to admit that the subject road was a rural county road and not part of a residential subdivision. Accordingly, the Harrison County subdivision regulations would have no applicability. This not only was admitted by Mr. Rash, (TR. 53, 54, 60) (EX. 10, pages 43-44) but also the three experts who testified in behalf of the Employer and Carrier testified that the regulations involving Harrison County subdivisions have no application to a rural county road. Furthermore, former County Engineer Bobby Knesal, and

Robert Weaver, Director of Harrison County Sand Beach Authority Parkway Commission and Assistant Road Manager for Bridge and Traffic, and Danny Hodges, the Traffic Safety Foreman for Harrison County all testified that the subject road was in compliance with any regulations concerning design and maintenance for rural county roads. (TR 97-106, 128, 153-154) Mr. Rash in his deposition admitted that he could not find any regulations for rural county roads in Harrison County. (EX. 10, page 44)

With regard to Mr. Rash's comments that the road does not meet general accepted minimum criteria for site distance for curves and conditions of curvature for the posted speed limit which is in effect on this road, Mr. Rash admitted that he found no posted data for Harrison County in support of that allegation concerning rural county roads. He admitted that once again he was applying an inappropriate standard for Harrison County subdivisions and regulations involving subdivisions rather than rural county roads. (EX.10, page 65.) (TR 53-54) He also admitted that he was unaware of any testing that had been done by the County to determine the appropriate safe legal speed limit for the subject road and the curvature of the road. He admitted that he had not done any specific testing to support that allegation in his affidavit, and he further agreed that if the County had performed testing with appropriate equipment to make the determination of the appropriate legal speed limit, the County officials who had done so would be in a better position to evaluate this situation than he. He further agreed that if someone is actually traveling at speeds that are approaching, if not exceeding, twice the legal speed limit, regardless of any road that he is on, he is in a greater danger than someone who would be obeying the legal speed limits. Also, by traveling at speeds in excess of the posted speed limit he is also endangering the lives of other people who might be utilizing the road for other purposes. (See EX. 10, pages 66 and 67.) (TR. 67-68)

Danny Hodges and Robert Weaver testified at trial that they utilized the generally recognized equipment, a ball bank indicator, to determine the appropriate safe legal speed limit for conditions and curvature of the subject road. Mr. Weaver demonstrated how this indicator is used, and he had one of these pieces of equipment in the court room to explain to the court how it works. Both Mr. Weaver and Mr. Hodges testified that they took extra measures to insure the travel safety for this particular road by utilization of appropriate legal speed limit signs and also various advisory signs as well as safety striping on the center and sides of the road all the way down the road. (TR 93-99, 124-130, and 142-144) Clearly, they would be in a better position to determine the appropriate safe speed limits and determine the safety factor of the road than Mr. Rash who had done absolutely no testing, and the Administrative Judge, Full Commission and Circuit Judge appropriately accorded the greater weight to the testimony of the experts who did actual testing.

Mr. Rash also boldly asserted that the general curvature and the S-curves and the back and forth of the whole road system is not a "safe road". He admitted on cross examination that there are many roads in the County with similar curvature that many people in the County utilize to travel to work. He also was completely unable to explain why there had only been one accident on this road at the subject location the entire time the road had been in existence if it was "unsafe". Mr. Rash admitted that even if this assessment was correct, that would be a general hazard and not a "special hazard". (EX 10, pages 54, 62-65) (TR. 60, 66-67)

Robert Weaver and Danny Hodges testified that in their usual course of business they receive data showing various accident locations throughout the County road system. They monitor these situations to see if some additional safety factors need to be utilized to correct any problem at those locations. In regard to this specific road, each of them and Mr. Knesal testified

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